
 

 

 
Despatched: 23.07.14 

 

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

31 July 2014 at 7.00 pm 

Council Chamber, Argyle Road, Sevenoaks 

 

AGENDA 

 

Membership: 

 
Chairman: Cllr. Williamson 

 

Vice-Chairman Cllr. Miss. Thornton 

Cllrs. Mrs. Ayres, Bosley, Brookbank, Brown, Clark, Cooke, Edwards-Winser, Firth, Gaywood, 

McGarvey, Neal, Orridge, Mrs. Parkin, Raikes, Miss. Stack, Underwood and Walshe 

 

 

 

Apologies for Absence 

 

Pages 

1.   Declarations of Interest or Predetermination  

 Including any interests not already registered 

 

 

2. Declarations of Lobbying  

 

 

3.   Planning Applications - Chief Planning Officer's Report  
 

 

3.1. SE/14/01679/FUL - Land South Of Roxburgh, Pound Lane, 
Knockholt TN14 7NA  

(Pages 1 - 20) 

 Erection of 2 storey house with garage and associated parking, 

and access from Bond Close. 

 

 

3.2. SE/14/00905/HOUSE - Childs Cottage, Childsbridge Lane, 
Kemsing  TN15 0BZ  

(Pages 21 - 34) 

 The erection of a single storey extension and insertion of an 

eyebrow window within the existing thatched roof. 

 

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing this agenda there were no exempt items. During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public.) 

 

 

To assist in the speedy and efficient despatch of business, Members wishing to obtain 

factual information on items included on the Agenda are asked to enquire of the 



 

 

 

appropriate Contact Officer named on a report prior to the day of the meeting. 

 

Should you require a copy of this agenda or any of the reports listed on it in another format 

please do not hesitate to contact the Democratic Services Team as set out below. 

 

If you wish to speak in support or against a planning application on this agenda, please 

call the Council’s Contact Centre on 01732 227000 

 

For any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact: 

The Democratic Services Team (01732 227241) 

 

Any Member who wishes to request the Chairman to agree a pre-meeting site inspection 

is asked to email democratic.services@sevenoaks.gov.uk or speak to a member of the 

Democratic Services Team on 01732 227350 by 5pm on Monday, 28 July 2014.  

 

The Council's Constitution provides that a site inspection may be determined to be 

necessary if:  

 

i.  Particular site factors are significant in terms of weight attached to them 

relative to other factors and it would be difficult to assess those factors 

without a Site Inspection. 

 

ii. The characteristics of the site need to be viewed on the ground in order to 

assess the broader impact of the proposal. 

 

iii. Objectors to and/or supporters of a proposal raise matters in respect of 

site characteristics, the importance of which can only reasonably be 

established by means of a Site Inspection. 

 

iv. The scale of the proposal is such that a Site Inspection is essential to 

enable Members to be fully familiar with all site-related matters of fact. 

 

v. There are very significant policy or precedent issues and where site-

specific factors need to be carefully assessed. 

 

When requesting a site inspection, the person making such a request must state under 

which of the above five criteria the inspection is requested and must also provide 

supporting justification. 

 



(Item 3.1)  1 

3.1- SE/14/01679/FUL Date expired 25 July 2014 

PROPOSAL: Erection of 2 storey house with garage and associated 

parking, and access from Bond Close. 

LOCATION: Land South Of Roxburgh, Pound Lane, Knockholt TN14 7NA  

WARD(S): Halstead, Knockholt & Badgers Mount 

ITEM FOR DECISION 

The application has been referred to Development Control Committee at the request of 

Councillor Williamson to consider the impact of the proposal on the character and 

appearance of the area in relation to policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks Local Plan. 

RECOMMENDATION A:  That subject to receipt of a signed and valid S106 Obligation to 

secure the off site affordable housing contribution within 28 days of the decision of the 

Development Control Committee, that authority be delegated to the Chief Planning 

Officer to GRANT planning permission subject to the following conditions:- 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 

In pursuance of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 79815/1 and 79815/2A date stamped received 30.05.14 

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

3) No development shall be carried out on the land until samples of the materials to 

be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council. The development shall 

be carried out using the approved materials. 

To ensure that the appearance of the development enhances the character and 

appearance of the area as supported by Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan. 

4) No development shall be carried out on the land until full details of soft and hard 

landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.  Those 

details shall include:-planting plans (identifying existing trees, hedgerow and plants to be 

retained and any new planting);-a schedule of new planting (noting species, size of stock 

at time of planting and proposed number/densities); and-a programme of 

implementation and maintenance. The soft landscaping scheme shall be planted within 

the first available planting season following completion of the scheme or in accordance 

with a programme agreed with the Local Planning Authority. The soft landscaping 

scheme shall be provided and maintained in accordance with the approved details.  

To ensure that the appearance of the development preserves the character and 

appearance of the area as supported by Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan, 

policy SP1 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

5) Throughout the course of the development methods for tree protection to those 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  2 

trees proposed to be retained shall be carried out and implemented in accordance with 

the details contained within the 'Arboricultural Report' dated 16.05.14 unless otherwise 

agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

To prevent any unnecessary damage to the trees in the interest of the trees and visual 

amenity of the area in accordance with policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks Local Plan. 

6) If within a period of two years from the completion of the development, any of the 

trees, hedgerow or plants that form part of the approved details of soft landscaping die, 

are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased another tree, hedgerow or plant 

of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same 

place, in the next available planting season unless the Local Planning Authority gives 

written consent to any variation. 

To ensure that the appearance of the development preserves the character and 

appearance of the area as supported by Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan, 

policy SP1 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

7) No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority a plan indicating the positions, design, 

materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected. The boundary treatment shall be 

completed prior to the occupation of the new dwelling or in accordance with a timetable 

agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details. 

In the interests of visual amenity and the amenity of residents in accordance with 

policies EN1 of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan, SP1 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy 

and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

8) The area shown on the approved plan as garage and parking space and access 

thereto shall be kept available for parking at all times, and no permanent development 

shall be carried out in such a position as to preclude vehicular access to these spaces. 

To ensure a permanent retention of vehicle parking for the property as supported by VP1 

of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan. 

9) Prior to the commencement of development on site, details shall be submitted in 

writing to and be approved by the Local Planning Authority of wheelwashing facilities.  

The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be 

permanently retained during the construction of the development. 

To prevent the deposit of loose material on the highway in the interest of highway safety. 

10) Prior to commencement of development including any site clearance works a 

Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to the District Planning Authority for 

approval in writing. Such plan shall include details of parking facilities for construction 

traffic, and details of areas designated for unloading, loading and storage arrangements 

for materials. The agreed measures shall be implemented prior to commencement of 

works and shall be retained on site until completion of the development. 

In order to ensure the unimpeded use of the adjacent highway and to prevent the 

storage of materials on the highway in the interest of highway safety. 

11) No development shall take place until full details of the proposed foul and surface 

water drainage systems have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.  

Page 2

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  3 

Any approved scheme shall be completed to the written satisfaction of the Council prior 

to the occupation; of the development. 

To ensure that the foul and surface water discharge from the site will not overload the 

existing network. 

12) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 as amended (or any Order revoking or re-enacting 

those Orders) no development falling within Classes A, B, C and E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 

to the said Order shall be carried out without the prior consent in writing of the Local 

Planning Authority 

To safeguard the appearance of the area and the amenities of neighbouring residents as 

supported by policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan policy SP1 of the 

Sevenoaks Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

13) The first floor window in the north west elevation identified as serving a bedroom 

shall be obscure glazed and fixed shut up to 1.7 metres above the internal finished floor 

level as identified on drawing number 79815/2A. These windows shall be retained in 

this condition at all times. 

To minimise overlooking onto adjoining properties and maintain privacy in accordance 

with policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan. 

14) The development shall achieve a Code for Sustainable homes minimum rating of 

level 3. Evidence shall be provided to the Local Authority –  

i) Prior to the commencement of development, of how it is intended the development will 

achieve a Code for Sustainable Homes Design Certificate minimum level 3 or alternative 

as agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; and 

 ii) Prior to the occupation of the development, that the development has achieved a 

Code for Sustainable Homes post construction certificate minimum level 3 or alternative 

as agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

In the interests of environmental sustainability and reducing the risk of climate change 

as supported by policy SP2 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy and the National Planning 

Policy Framework. 

15) During construction, the hours of working, including deliveries and collections to 

and from the site, shall be restricted to: 08:00 - 17:00 Monday to Friday; 08:00 - 13:00 

Saturday; and not at all on Sundays or Public Holidays. 

To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in accordance with policy EN1 of 

the Sevenoaks District Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

16) No development shall take place until full details of a scheme of biodiversity 

enhancement have been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 

These details shall cover as appropriate: Proposed locations and types of enhancement 

to be implemented. The approved details shall be implemented in full prior to the first 

occupation of the dwelling hereby approved and maintained thereafter. 

To ensure that the proposed development will not have a harmful impact on protected 

species and habitats, and wider biodiversity, in accordance with   Policy SP11 of the Core 

Strategy and guidance in National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  4 

Informatives 

1) The applicants attention is drawn to comments received by the Kent Highway 

Authority which state: 

It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby 

approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where 

required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in 

order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. The 

applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in every 

aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore 

important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this 

aspect of the works prior to commencement on site. 

2) The applicants attention is drawn to comments received from Thames Water 

which state: 

Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head 

(approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves their pipes.  

The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the design of the 

proposed development. 

Note to Applicant 

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Sevenoaks District Council 

(SDC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals.  SDC works 

with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner, by; 

• Offering a duty officer service to provide initial planning advice, 

• Providing a pre-application advice service, 

• When appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any small scale issues that may 

arise in the processing of their application, 

• Where possible and appropriate suggesting solutions to secure a successful 

outcome, 

• Allowing applicants to keep up to date with their application and viewing all 

consultees comments on line (www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/environment/planning/ 

planning_services_online/654.asp), 

• By providing a regular forum for planning agents, 

• Working in line with the NPPF to encourage developments that improve the 

improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, 

• Providing easy on line access to planning policies and guidance, and 

• Encouraging them to seek professional advice whenever appropriate. 

In this instance the applicant/agent: 

1) Was provided with pre-application advice and in light of the advice amended the 

application to address the issues. 

2) The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 

applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote the 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  5 

application. 

And / 

RECOMMENDATION B:  In the event that the legal agreement is not completed within 28 

days of the decision of the Development Control Committee and a resolution to grant 

permission, the application by REFUSED for the following reason: 

The proposal would lead to a requirement to contribute towards affordable housing 

provision.  In the absence of a completed Section 106 obligation to secure an 

appropriate level of affordable housing provision, the development would be contrary to 

Policy SP3 of the Sevenoaks District Core Strategy. 

Description of Proposal 

1 The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a two storey 

detached dwelling house with an attached single storey garage and associated 

parking, and access from Bond Close. 

2 In the interest of clarity, it should be noted that part of the existing plot of land 

would be severed and incorporated into the residential curtilage of number 8 

Bond Close, presumably to increase the size of the amenity area to number 8 

which is relatively modest at present in comparison to the size of the dwelling it 

serves. This part of the land is identified on the block plan on drawing number 

79815/1 by a broken dotted line. To clarify, this modest parcel of land does not 

form part of the application site and the Council has no control over the existing 

or proposed ownership of this land.  

Description of Site 

3 The site the subject of this application is located to the rear of Roxburgh a 

property fronting Pound Lane, Knockholt and adjoins the boundary with properties 

located in Bond Close.  

4 The site is a predominately residential area. Properties in Pound Lane vary in age 

design and architectural style, in comparison to properties in Bond Close which 

form part of a small estate of properties of a similar scale and appearance. In 

almost every instance, properties benefit from off street parking provision.  

5 At the time of my site visit, it would be fair to say that the site is currently 

scrubland occupied by a combination of established hedgerow and trees to the 

boundaries. Two willow trees are located towards the rear of the site. The 

remainder of various shrubs which have been cleared exist at low level 

throughout the application site.  

6 There is a visible solid and well maintained close boarded fence along the 

common boundary with Santon and along the rear boundary where the site backs 

onto 9 Elmtree Cottages. In both instances the fencing stands at a height of 

approximately 1.8 - 2 metres. There is evidence of fencing along the common 

boundary between the application site and number 8 Bond Close however, for the 

most part this is in a relatively poor state of repair. A clearing in the boundary 

treatment exists at the approximate location of the proposed access onto Bond 

Close.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  6 

7 The site is located within the settlement of Knockholt as defined on the proposals 

map to the Sevenoaks Local Plan. There are no site specific constraints relating to 

the application site. However, it is noted that Bond Close adjoins the boundary 

with the Green Belt to the West some 90 metres away from the application site.  

Policies 

Sevenoaks Core Strategy 

8 Policies - LO1, LO7, SP1, SP2, SP3, SP5, SP11 

Sevenoaks District Local Plan 

9 Policies - EN1, VP1 

Others 

10 Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document  

11 Allocations & Development Management Plan (Draft) 

 Following the recent examination of the emerging Allocations and Development 

Management Plan (ADMP), policies contained within the ADMP are in the final 

stages of preparation and can now be attributed some weight in decision taking. 

The relevance of these policies to the proposals and the degree of weight to be 

attributed to them are considered below. Limited weight is given to policies which 

may be subject of main modifications. Moderate weight can be given to those 

policies where there are objections but no main modifications are proposed. 

Significant weight is given to policies where there are no objections and no 

modifications are proposed.  

 Emerging policies EN1, EN2 and T2 of the ADMP are relevant to the assessment 

of this planning application. The table below identifies the weight to be given to 

each of these policies in the assessment of the planning application.  

 

 

 

 

 Emerging policy EN1 of the ADMP will in part replace adopted policy EN1 

(Development Control: General Principles) of the Local Plan. Emerging policy EN1 

requires high quality design and lists a number of criteria against which proposed 

development will be considered, including requiring the layout of proposed 

development to respect the topography and character of the site and the 

surrounding area and requirement for landscaping and good levels of 

accessibility.  

 Emerging policy EN2 of the ADMP will also in part replace adopted policy EN1 of 

the Local Plan. Emerging policy EN2 seeks to safeguard the amenities of existing 

and future occupants of nearby properties, including from excessive noise, activity 

or vehicle movements.  

ADMP 

Policy 

Policy Title 
Weight 

EN1 Design Principles Moderate 

EN2 Amenity Protection Moderate 

T2 Vehicle Parking Significant 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  7 

 Emerging policy T2 (Vehicle Parking) of the ADMP will in part replace policy VP1 of 

the Local Plan. Emerging policy T2 requires vehicle parking provision, including 

cycle parking, in new residential development to be provided in accordance with 

the current KCC vehicle parking standards in Interim Guidance Note 3 to the Kent 

Design Guide. It is considered that the proposed development can comply with 

this requirement and therefore this policy does not alter the existing 

recommendation. 

12 National Policy Framework (NPPF) 

13 Planning Practice Guidance 

Planning History 

14 11/00283/FUL  Demolition of existing garage. Erection of front extension, roof 

extension including loft conversion with dormers to front and rear elevations.  

Refuse 14/04.2011 

 11/01020/FUL Front extension and new hipped roof extension with dormers to 

form bedroom and bathrooms within roof space. Grant 17/06/2011. 

 11/01791/DETAIL  Details pursuant to condition 2 (materials) of planning 

permission SE/11/01020/FUL. Grant 21/07/2011. 

Representations  

15 At the time of writing the report 29 letters had been received objecting to the 

application on the following grounds: 

• Loss of on street parking 

• Highway safety 

• Increased traffic 

• Loss of turning facility 

• Inappropriate development harmful to the character and appearance of 

the area 

• Overlooking and loss of privacy 

• Loss of landscaping 

• Loss of outlook and loss of views 

• Garden grabbing  

• Loss of wildlife/habitat  

• Harmful to protected species 

• Creation of an unacceptable precedent  

• Over intensive form of development  

• Density 

• Detrimental impact on visual amenity 

• Inappropriate choice of design, unacceptable appearance and materials 

• Layout 

• Disturbance during construction 

• Inaccurate drawings 

 

16 2 Letters have been received supporting the application on the following grounds: 

• Provision of much needed moderate sized family homes.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  8 

• This type of development will encourage new families to the area. 

 

17 One letter has been received in response to comments made by local residents 

which makes reference to the applicant’s personal circumstances and seeks to 

correct what the author considers to be factual inaccuracies relating to the 

condition of the site. It is stated that whilst historically the site may have been a 

small holding and/or used to house chickens, the site has been overgrown for 

approximately 14 years. Only two fruit trees existed one of which (a plum tree) 

was in a state of collapse. It is stated that remnants of chicken runs existed when 

the applicants acquired the property but that these were in a state of decay.   

18 A further letter has been received from the applicant in response to comments 

received from local residents correcting what the applicant considers to be factual 

inaccuracies regarding the condition of the application site and addressing points 

relating to parking, wildlife, the scale of development proposed and confirming 

correspondence with immediate neighbours prior to submitting the application.  

Consultations 

Parish Council 

19 The Parish Council object to the proposal stating: 

 “The proposal is a large construction close to other properties on an area that is 

too small for a development of this size. There will be a loss of trees and what was 

a view for neighbouring residents of a relatively rural outlook will be lost. 

Furthermore, the increased vehicular traffic associated with the development is 

negative." 

Kent Highways Services 

20 The KCC Vehicle Parking Standards for residential development recommends a 

minimum off-street provision of 2no spaces. This is calculated in addition to any 

garage spaces which do not count toward the minimum provision. As such, it is 

strongly recommended that the applicant be required to demonstrate the 

availability of 2no parking bays with minimum dimensions of 2.4m width x 4.8m 

depth within the frontage of the site in addition to the proposed garage space. 

21 Subject to resolution of the above issue and inclusion of conditions to reflect the 

following, there are no further principle highway objections: 

 - Provision of wheel washing facilities prior to commencement of work on site and 

for the duration of construction. 

 - Provision of a vehicle crossover to the requirements of KCC to suit the full width 

of the required frontage hardstanding/parking bays. 

 - Provision of a construction management plan prior to the commencement of any 

works on site. 

22 Note should also be made that a highway objection cannot be justified on the 

basis of a resulting loss of casual on-street parking unless there is a clear 

resulting adverse highway safety impact which there is not in this case. 

Furthermore, the traffic generation associated with a single residential unit even 

in a village locality such as this would typically be no more than 8 movements per 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  9 

day when compared to surveyed trip rates taken from the TRICS database for 

residential development in similar context. Such movements do not generate any 

highway capacity issues locally and represent only a very small percentage 

increase when compared to the movements associated with existing residential 

units in Bond Close. 

23 INFORMATIVE: It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the 

development hereby approved is commenced, that all necessary highway 

approvals and consents where required are obtained and that the limits of 

highway boundary are clearly established in order to avoid any enforcement 

action being taken by the Highway Authority. The applicant must also ensure that 

the details shown on the approved plans agree in every aspect with those 

approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore important for the 

applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of 

the works prior to commencement on site. 

SDC Tree Officer  

24 No objection 

Thames Water  

 Waste Comments 

25 Surface Water Drainage - With regard to surface water drainage it is the 

responsibility of a developer to make proper provision for drainage to ground, 

water courses or a suitable sewer. In respect of surface water it is recommended 

that the applicant should ensure that storm flows are attenuated or regulated into 

the receiving public network through on or off site storage. When it is proposed to 

connect to a combined public sewer, the site drainage should be separate and 

combined at the final manhole nearest the boundary. Connections are not 

permitted for the removal of groundwater. Where the developer proposes to 

discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer 

Services will be required. They can be contacted on 0845 850 2777.  

 Reason - to ensure that the surface water discharge from the site shall not be 

detrimental to the existing sewerage system.  

26 Thames Water would advise that with regard to sewerage infrastructure capacity, 

we would not have any objection to the above planning application. 

 Water Comments 

27 Thames Water recommend the following informative be attached to this planning 

permission. Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum 

pressure of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the 

point where it leaves their pipes.  The developer should take account of this 

minimum pressure in the design of the proposed development. 

28 On the basis of information provided, Thames Water would advise that with regard 

to water infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the above 

planning application.  

  

Page 9

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  10 

Southern Water  

29 The development site is not located within Southern Water's statutory area for 

water supply, drainage and wastewater services. Please contact, the relevant 

statutory undertaker to provide water supply, drainage and wastewater services to 

this development. 

Chief Planning Officer’s Appraisal 

Principal Issues  

30 The principle issues to consider in the determination of this application are: 

• Principle of development and density; 

• The visual impact of the proposal; 

• Impact upon existing residential amenity; 

• Highway Implications; 

• Sustainability; 

• Affordable Housing; and 

• Landscaping and Biodiversity. 

Principle of Development  

31 Paragraph 53 of the NPPF states that, “local planning authorities should consider 

setting out policies to resist the inappropriate development of rear gardens, 

where this would cause harm to the local area”. At a local level this is broadly 

consistent with policies LO7, SP1 and SP7 of the Core Strategy which permit small 

scale development that sympathises with the scale and nature of the village 

provided it does not compromise or harm the distinctive character of an area.  

32 The NPPF encourages the delivery of homes of a high quality design and a good 

standard of amenity for all, whilst “encouraging the effective use of land by 

reusing land which has been previously developed (brownfield land) provided it is 

not of high environmental value”. Annexe 2 of the guidance defines ‘Previously 

Developed Land’ as that which is or was “occupied by a permanent structure, 

including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed 

that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed 

surface infrastructure.’ This definition excludes, amongst other categories, ‘land 

in built up areas such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds 

and allotments’. As the site appears not to have been maintained and has been 

left to become effectively scrub for a number of years it is my view that when 

assessed against the wording of the NPPF the site of the proposed house would 

not be considered as previously developed by the Council.  

33 However, notwithstanding the above, policy LO1 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy 

states that "development will be focussed within the built confines of existing 

settlements". The site the subject of this application is located within the built 

confines of an existing settlement, in an area where there are no site specific 

constraints, therefore, on balance; it is my view that there is potential to develop 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  11 

the site subject to preserving the character of the area. Furthermore, the proposal 

would provide additional housing for the district in a sustainable location which 

supports the aspirations of the NPPF. 

34 Upon considering the above, in my view the principle of residential use/infill of the 

site is acceptable subject to no adverse impact on the character of the area, the 

amenities of neighbouring occupiers, impact on highway conditions and an 

acceptable design, and any other material planning considerations. An 

assessment of these issues is discussed below.  

Density  

35 Policy SP7 of the Core Strategy sets out the Councils housing density levels, 

stating that all new housing will be developed at a density which is consistent with 

achieving good design and does not compromise the distinctive character of the 

area in which it is situated. Subject to this overriding consideration, within 

Knockholt the Council seeks a net density of 30 dwellings per hectare (dph).  

36 The site area which the proposed dwelling will occupy is approximately 0.046ha 

resulting in an overall density of approximately 21dph, which is below the density 

guidelines set out in policy SP7. However, whilst the proposal would result in 

density levels below those prescribed in the Core Strategy, as stated in the 

preceding paragraphs, the overriding policy consideration is that housing will be 

developed at a density which is consistent with achieving good design and does 

not compromise the distinctive character of the area in which it is situated. In this 

instance, it is considered that the subdivision of the plot to accommodate an 

additional dwelling would result in density levels to both the existing and proposed 

dwelling which are broadly consistent and comparable with the mixed density of 

development in the area immediately surrounding the application site.  

37 As such, the proposal is considered to be of an appropriate density. 

Visual Impact  

38 The NPPF states that the Government ‘attaches great importance to the design of 

the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 

indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places 

better for people.’ (para. 56) 

39 Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan and SP1 of the Sevenoaks Core 

Strategy state that the form of the proposed development, including any buildings 

or extensions, should be compatible in terms of scale, height, density and site 

coverage with other buildings in the locality. This policy also states that the design 

should be in harmony with adjoining buildings and incorporate materials and 

landscaping of a high standard. 

40 The proposed layout of the new dwelling would respect the existing pattern of 

development in the locality. The proposed dwelling would be located in the north 

eastern end of the plot and as stated previously, would have an L shape 

configuration which would result in a continuation of the established built 

frontage with properties located on the southern side of Bond Close. The dwelling 

would then turn at 90 degrees to allow its principle elevation to address the street 

frontage.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  12 

41 The properties located in Bond Close are similar in appearance to one another, in 

comparison to properties located in Pound Lane which vary considerably in terms 

of their overall design and architectural style. As the proposed dwelling will 

address Bond Close it has been designed to reflect the style of dwellings within.  

42 The floor plans to the new dwelling indicate a relatively basic L shape 

configuration which allows for traditional roof shapes at a shallow pitch, akin to 

adjacent properties. The proposed eaves height of approximately 5.3 metre and 

height to ridge of approximately 7.4 metres is broadly comparable to the highest 

eves to the neighbouring property number 8 and as a consequence, when viewed 

in context the dwelling would not appear excessively prominent. In addition, the 

articulation in terms of the fenestration and distribution of differing materials 

such as brickwork to ground floor and tile hanging above, together with the type 

and combination of traditional materials which have been incorporated into the 

scheme reflect those commonly found within the locality. Overall, in my view, in 

terms of how the scheme will be viewed within the context of the street scene, the 

proposal is of a traditional form and simplistic design and takes queues from the 

common themes of design. Collectively, these elements contribute to ensuring 

that the proposed development would preserve the character and appearance of 

the locality.  

43 The site coverage of the proposed dwelling and ratio of built form to amenity 

space would be comparable with other properties in Bond Close, particularly 

those located on the southern side. With regards to the nearest neighbouring 

properties and those which adjoin the boundary with the application site, the 

proposed dwelling would retain 4 metres from the flank of number 8 Bond Close, 

16 metres from the front elevation to number 7 Bond Close, in excess of 22 

metres from Roxburgh and Santon and in excess of 90 metres from 9 Elmtree 

Cottages. For the most part the proposed dwelling would retain between 3 to 13 

metres from the boundary in comparison to existing properties in Bond Close 

some of which extend the entire width of their plots. Consequently, the layout 

would allow sufficient space for parking and garaging, and reasonable circulation 

space around the footprint of the dwelling to allow further opportunity to enhance 

the scheme with additional landscaping over and above that proposed to be 

retained. A good sized garden would also be provided. In this context in my view, 

the proposed dwelling would not appear cramped or overdevelopment.  

44 For the reasons set out above, I consider that the proposal is sufficiently 

sympathetic in a way which would ensure it would not have a negative impact 

upon the character of area. The proposed dwelling would be well integrated, 

reflecting the general pattern of development in the area.  

45 I therefore conclude that the development would preserve the character and 

appearance of the street scene and therefore complies with the NPPF, policy SP1 

of the Core Strategy, policy EN1 of the Local Plan and emerging policy EN1 of the 

ADMP.  

Impact on Residential Amenity 

46 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF identifies a set of core land-use planning principles 

that should underpin decision-taking. One of these principles is that planning 

should always seek to secure a good standard of amenity for all existing and 

future occupants of land and buildings. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  13 

47 Policies EN1 and H6B of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan require that any 

proposed development should not have an adverse impact on the amenities of 

neighbours and also ensures a satisfactory environment for future occupants.  

48 I consider that the only neighbouring properties to be potentially directly affected 

by the proposed development are 7 and 8 Bond Close, Roxburgh and Santon 

Pound Lane and number Elmtree Cottages, Main Road. Other surrounding 

properties are sufficient distance away from the application site for the proposed 

dwelling not to have a detrimental impact on the amenities of the occupiers of 

these properties. 

49 With regards to outlook and overshadowing and loss of light, due to the distances 

maintained from numbers 7, Roxburgh, Santon and number 9 Elmtree Cottages 

which are, prescribed in the preceding paragraphs under subheading ‘Visual 

Impact’, in my view, the proposed development would not result in any significant 

overshadowing or loss of light. Furthermore, whilst the proposed development 

may alter the view from neighbouring windows (which to clarify is not a material 

planning consideration), in my view there is a sufficient distance between the 

proposed development and the aforementioned properties windows to ensure 

that the proposal would not significantly alter the nature of the normal outlook in 

a way which would result in the proposed development having an unacceptably 

overbearing impact.  

50 Number 8 Bond Close is the nearest neighbour to the application site and has an 

existing first floor window which overlooks the site. However, the Block Plan 

indicates that the proposed dwelling would be located forward of this window, and 

consequently, I do not consider that the proposal would result in any significant 

loss of light or overshadowing of number 8 or adversely impact upon the 

occupants outlook. 

51 The Councils RESPD advises that the overlooking of windows of habitable rooms 

in any adjoining property at a close distance and which would result in an 

unreasonable loss of privacy is unacceptable. For similar reasons, a window 

overlooking the private amenity area immediately adjacent to the rear of an 

adjoining dwelling is also inappropriate. The District Council will normally calculate 

the private amenity area as a depth of 5 metres from the back of the property. 

52 With the exception of the side (North West) elevation, overlooking from windows 

located in the ground floor of the development will, for the most part, be 

prevented by existing boundary treatments. Where boundary treatment is not 

indicated, this can be secured by condition to ensure that the treatment is of an 

appropriate nature and height to prevent overlooking.  

52 Windows located in front (south west) elevation will overlook the street. First floor 

windows located in the side (south east) elevation will face towards the far rear 

end of the garden to Santon and towards Elmtree Cottages. The far rear end of 

the garden to Santon would not constitute private amenity space as defined by 

the Council. The distance maintained from the rear windows and private rear 

amenity space to Elmtree Cottages would be well in excess of 50 metres. There 

are existing saplings which currently exceed the height of the fence on the 

common boundary with the application site and Elmtree Cottages which would 

prevent overlooking, however, these are proposed to be removed as part of the 

proposal. This will allow clearer views towards these cottages, however, the views 

are likely to remain partially obscured by the willows proposed to be retained 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  14 

which according to the Arboricultural report are approximately 6 -7 metres in 

height.  Furthermore, due to the distance of 50 metres prescribed above, in my 

view any views towards the windows and private amenity areas serving these 

properties would not be at close enough quarters to justify refusing planning 

permission. There are no first floor windows proposed in the rear (north east) and 

front (south west) elevations and so these elevations would not result in any 

unacceptable loss of privacy to neighbouring occupants. There is one first floor 

window in the side (North West) elevation facing number 7 which is shown to be 

obscurely glazed. Given the proximity to number 7 I recommend this is secured by 

condition. The remaining windows in the side (north west) elevation would not 

extend forward of the neighbouring property at number 8 which also looks directly 

towards number 7, and in my view maintain a sufficient distance from number 7 

(at least 21 metres) to prevent any inter-looking between windows at close 

quarters.  

54 In conclusion, for the reasons set out above, subject to conditions, in my view the 

proposal would have an acceptable impact on neighbours’ amenity in accordance 

with the NPPF, policy EN1 and H6B of the Local Plan the RESPD and emerging 

policy EN2 of the ADMP.  

Highway Implications 

55 Following receipt of comments from KCC Highways, the applicants have been 

asked to provide an amended block plan indicating that the parking of two 

vehicles can be accommodated within the site. Subject to this being 

demonstrated, in concurrence with KCC Highways which will be reported in the 

late observations, I see no justification to refuse the application on highway 

grounds. In addition, for the reasons contained in the comments received from 

KCC Highways nor do I consider that the proposed development would be of 

detriment to vehicular or pedestrian safety.  

56 Concern has been raised regarding the loss of casual parking within the turning 

head fronting the application site, however, as stated above, KCC Highways are of 

the view that the proposed development can be accommodated without any 

adverse highway impact. 

57 In addition to the above, in my view, parking in the turning head prevents the use 

of this space for the purpose it is intended. Consequently, there is an argument, 

that preventing parking in this location would be of benefit.  

Sustainability  

58 The NPPF states that at the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a 

presumption in favour of sustainable development, which should be seen as a 

golden thread running through both plan-making and decision taking (para. 14). 

59 For decision-taking this means approving development proposals that accord with 

the development plan without delay and where the development plan is absent, 

silent or relevant policies out of date, granting of permission unless:- 

 - any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; 

 - specific policies in this framework indicate development should be restricted; or 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  15 

 - material considerations indicate otherwise. 

60 In my opinion, the proposed scheme accords with the development plan, and I 

have explained this in detail above. It follows that the development is appropriate 

and there would be no adverse impact in granting planning permission for the 

development. 

61 The Council is committed to reducing the causes and effects of climate change by 

promoting best practice in sustainable design and construction as set out in 

policy SP2 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy. 

62 Having regard to this, it would be considered reasonable in the event of 

permission being granted, in accordance with Planning Practice Guidance ‘The 

use of planning conditions’, to require the development to achieve a minimum of 

Code Level 3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes.   

Affordable Housing  

63 Policy SP3 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy states that in residential developments 

of less than 5 units that involve a net gain in the number of units a financial 

contribution based on the equivalent of 10% affordable housing will be required 

towards improving affordable housing provision off site. The formula for 

calculating the sum of monies required is set out in the Councils Affordable 

Housing SPD.  

64 The applicant has indicated that they are willing to provide a financial contribution 

in line with the formula held within the Affordable Housing SPD and have 

submitted a draft Section 106 agreement to reflect this. At the time of writing this 

report the legal agreement necessary to secure the contribution had not been 

completed. The recommendation reflects this in that if Members resolve to grant 

approval for the development the applicant will have 28 days in which to 

complete the legal agreement otherwise the application would be refused. 

Landscaping and Biodiversity  

65 As part of the proposal, it is proposed to remove some of the landscaping from 

the site and this is detailed in the submitted Arboricultural Report. The proposal 

also includes the removal of a privet hedge located within the garden of Roxburgh 

which is not detailed within the Arboricultural Report but of which I am aware and 

which has been considered.  

66 It is noted that the removal of this vegetation has raised concern with local 

residents.  

67 Firstly, it should be noted that the existing planting on site is not afforded any 

protection and therefore, could be removed at any stage without the benefit of 

any form of consent from the Council.  

68 The Council was recently contacted with regards to the trees and the Tree Officer 

has assessed the specimens and concluded that the trees are not of high enough 

amenity value to justify serving a Tree Preservation Order. This concurs with the 

findings of the Arboricultural Report, which grades the vegetation on site at a C 

grade, which it is stated is low quality. Consequently, no objection is raised to the 

proposed loss of a number of trees and hedgerow on site. Furthermore, in my 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  16 

view it would be unreasonable to do so or suggest a ground of refusal based on 

this given that the trees are not afforded any form of protection.  

69 Whilst it is acknowledged that the planting on site does contribute to the 

character and appearance of the area and that the removal of some of the 

vegetation on site will alter the view from neighbouring properties, a number of 

mature specimens are proposed to be retained and these will continue to make a 

valuable contribution to the amenity of the area. Furthermore, as stated 

previously, the view from neighbouring windows is not a material planning 

consideration. Although the removal of the vegetation will further reveal the view 

of the proposed dwelling for the reasons set above, the dwelling is considered to 

have an acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the area. 

However, in the interest of ensuring that the vegetation proposed to be retained 

continues to contribute to visual amenity, it is recommended that their protection, 

retention, maintenance and replacement in the short term (should for any reason 

they need to be removed) is secured by condition imposed on any grant of 

planning permission.  

70 Having assessed the proposal against Natural England’s standing advice in my 

view there is no specific criterion applying to the present condition of the site 

which indicates to me that any protected species/habitat would be affected by 

the proposal. This concurs with the findings of the Arboricultral Report which 

refrains from indicating that the existing planting on site has any wildlife/cultural 

value.  

71 However, in the unlikely event that any protected species are found to be present, 

it would be prudent to impose an informative on any permission informing the 

applicants that they must stop works immediately and only proceed under the 

guidance of an appropriately experienced and licensed professional.  

72 The National Planning Policy Framework states at paragraph 118 that:  

 “When determining planning applications, local planning authorities should aim 

to conserve and enhance biodiversity by applying the following principles: 

 ….. opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should 

be encouraged;…..” 

73 Policy SP11 of the Sevenoaks Core Strategy states that “the biodiversity of the 

District will be conserved and opportunities sought for enhancement to ensure no 

net loss of biodiversity”.  

74 Therefore, and in light of the vegetation to be lost, I consider it reasonable in 

accordance with Planning Practice Guidance ‘Use of Conditions’ to impose a 

condition requiring biodiversity enhancements.  

Other Matters 

75 Concern has been raised regarding the accuracy of the drawings with particular 

regard to the plotting of Santon on the submitted site location and block plan and 

to the annotation of and land ownership to number 7. 

76 The purpose of the site plan is to identify where the site is located and for the 

block plan to indicate the relationship between properties.  The fact that the 

footprint of Santon is not correct is not a reason in this instance to invalidate the 

Page 16

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  17 

application as in my view the impact of the proposal is this instance can be 

accurately assessed on site, and having carried out a site visit I am satisfied that 

the relationship of the proposed dwelling to Santon in its current form is 

acceptable for the reasons set out above.  

77 With regards to Santon being annotated on the drawings as ‘Charlton’, ordnance 

survey data obtained by the applicant may not be up to date. However, again for 

the reasons set out above, this is not a reason in this to invalidate the proposal. 

Address data held by the Council is up to date and indicates that the property has 

been renamed Santon.  

78 With regards to concerns raised by the occupants of number 7 Bond Close, upon 

inspection on site the plans appeared to me to be accurate and in the absence of 

any evidence to the contrary, for example copies of relevant title deeds there is 

nothing to substantiate that the drawings have been drawn inaccurately. 

Furthermore, the ownership certificates signed by the applicants are taken in 

good faith. To clarify, the Council does not involve itself it land ownership related 

disputes which are a matter to be resolved between the applicant and any 

relevant third part involved.  

79 However, in the interest of clarity, I have bought the relevant comments to the 

attention of the applicant’s agent and any comments received in response will be 

reported on the late observations. 

Conclusion 

80 I consider that the proposed dwelling would preserve the character and 

appearance of the street scene, neighbouring amenity and highways safety. 

Consequently, it is my view that the proposal is in accordance with the NPPF and 

development plan policies and therefore the Officer’s recommendation is to 

approve. 

Background Papers 

Site and Block plans 

Contact Officer(s): Claire Baldwin  Extension: 7367 

Richard Morris 

Chief Planning Officer 

Link to application details:  

http://pa.sevenoaks.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=N6DZR9BK0LO00  

Link to associated documents: 

http://pa.sevenoaks.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=N6DZR9BK0LO00  

  

Page 17

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  18 

 

  

Page 18

Agenda Item 3.1



(Item 3.1)  19 

Block Plan 

 

 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 3.1



This page is intentionally left blank



(Item 3.2)  1 

3.2 – SE/14/00905/HOUSE Date expired 21 May 2014 

PROPOSAL: The erection of a single storey extension and insertion of an 

eyebrow window within the existing thatched roof. 

LOCATION: Childs Cottage, Childsbridge Lane, Kemsing  TN15 0BZ  

WARD(S): Kemsing 

ITEM FOR DECISION 

This application is being referred to Development Control Committee at the request of 

Councillor Stack in order to debate the applicant’s case for very special circumstances and 

whether it outweighs the harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness. 

RECOMMENDATION: That planning permission be REFUSED for the following reasons:- 

The land lies within the Green Belt where strict policies of restraint apply. The proposal 

would be inappropriate development harmful to the maintenance of the character of the 

Green Belt and to its openness as it will result in a disproportionate addition over and 

above the size of the original dwelling. The proposal would therefore be contrary to policy 

H14A of the Sevenoaks Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Note to Applicant 

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Sevenoaks District Council (SDC) 

takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals.  SDC works with 

applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner, by; 

• Offering a duty officer service to provide initial planning advice, 

• Providing a pre-application advice service, 

• When appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any small scale issues that may 

arise in the processing of their application, 

• Where possible and appropriate suggesting solutions to secure a successful 

outcome, 

• Allowing applicants to keep up to date with their application and viewing all 

consultees comments on line 

(www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/environment/planning/planning_services_online/654.asp

), 

• By providing a regular forum for planning agents, 

• Working in line with the NPPF to encourage developments that improve the 

improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, 

• Providing easy on line access to planning policies and guidance, and 

• Encouraging them to seek professional advice whenever appropriate. 

In this instance the applicant/agent: 

1) Working in line with the NPPF, the application was refused as the proposal failed to 

Page 21

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  2 

improve the economic, social or environmental conditions of the area. 

 

Description of Proposal 

1 The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a single storey 

extension and insertion of an eyebrow window within the existing thatched roof. 

2 The application is a resubmission of SE/13/02637/HOUSE. The principle 

difference between the schemes is that an extension is now proposed in favour of 

a conservatory, and a case for very special circumstances has been advanced.  

Description of Site 

3 The site lies in the Green Belt on a site between the villages of Kemsing and Seal. 

4 The site comprises a detached dwelling with existing first floor accommodation in 

the roof and a detached garage set within generous sized gardens. It lies adjacent 

to the west of Childsbridge Lane. The site is well landscaped with plenty of mature 

trees along the boundary of the site with the highway.  The site itself is relatively 

level although it lies at a lower level than Childsbridge lane. 

5 The existing cottage comprises a detached dwelling partly with a thatched pitched 

roof over and partly with a flat roof. It is assumed that the flat roof element is a 

later addition but the Council has no records to indicate when this part of the 

house was erected. 

6 Planning permission was granted in 2009 reference SE/09/01694/FUL to extend 

the dwelling via the erection of a single storey side & rear extension and a first 

floor side extension to facilitate a loft conversion.  

7 More recently, planning permission was refused reference SE/13/02637/HOUSE 

for the erection of a conservatory and insertion of an eyebrow window within the 

existing thatched roof. 

Constraints 

8 Green Belt  

Policies 

Sevenoaks District Local Plan (SDLP):  

9 Policies - EN1, H6B, H14A, Appendix 4 Residential Extensions  

Sevenoaks Core Strategy: 

10 Policies - SP1, LO7, LO8 

Allocations and Development Management Plan (Draft) (ADMP):  

11 Policies - EN1, EN2, GB1 

 

Page 22

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  3 

Other 

11 Residential Extensions Supplementary Planning Document (RESPD) 2009 

12 Following the recent examination of the emerging ADMP, policies contained within 

are in the final stages of preparation and can now be attributed some weight in 

decision taking. The relevance of these policies to the proposals and the degree 

of weight to be attributed to them are considered below. Limited weight is given to 

policies which may be subject of main modifications. Moderate weight can be 

given to those policies where there are objections but no main modifications are 

proposed. Significant weight is given to policies where there are no objections and 

no modifications are proposed.  

13 Emerging policies EN1, EN2 and GB1 of the ADMP are relevant to the assessment 

of this planning application. The table below identifies the weight to be given to 

each of these policies in the assessment of the planning application.  

ADMP Policy  Policy Title Weight 

EN1 Design Principles Moderate 

EN2 Amenity Protection Moderate 

GB1 Limited Extensions to Dwellings in the Green Belt Moderate 

 

14 Emerging policy EN1 of the ADMP will in part replace adopted policy EN1 

(Development Control: General Principles) of the Local Plan. Emerging policy EN1 

requires high quality design and lists a number of criteria against which proposed 

development will be considered, including requiring the layout of proposed 

development to respect the topography and character of the site and the 

surrounding area and requirement for landscaping and good levels of 

accessibility.  

15 Emerging policy EN2 of the ADMP will also in part replace adopted policy EN1 of 

the Local Plan. Emerging policy EN2 seeks to safeguard the amenities of existing 

and future occupants of nearby properties, including from excessive noise, activity 

or vehicle movements.  

16 Emerging policy GB1 of the ADMP will in part replace policy H14A of the Local 

Plan. Emerging policy GB1 is similar to adopted policy H14A in that amongst other 

things it seeks to restrict extensions to dwellings which are lawful and permanent 

in nature, seeks appropriate design and seeks to ensure that the amount of floor 

space added to dwellings in the Green Belt does not exceed 50% of the floor area 

of the original dwelling.  

17 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

18 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  4 

Planning History 

19 86/00600/HIST DEMOLITION OF EXISTING GARAGE AND 

SHEDS AND ERECTION OF DOUBLE GARAGE 

Grant. 

20/05/1986 

 09/01694/FUL Erection of a single storey side & rear 

extension and a second storey side 

extension to facilitate loft conversion 

Grant. 

24/09/2009 

 13/02637/HOUSE Erection of a conservatory and insertion of 

an eyebrow window within the existing 

thatched roof. 

Refuse. 

06/11/2013 

Consultations 

Kemsing Parish Council  

20 Kemsing Parish Council recommends approval.  

Representations 

21 No representations have been received.  

Chief Planning Officer’s Appraisal 

Principal Issues  

22 The main issue is whether the proposal would involve inappropriate development 

in the Green Belt and, if so whether the harm to the Green Belt would be clearly 

outweighed by other considerations. 

23 The remaining issues to consider are: 

• Design and Visual Impact; and 

• Impact on Amenity;  

Green Belt  

24 Having regard to the Green Belt, inappropriate development, by definition, is 

development that is harmful to the Green Belt. Government advice contained 

within the NPPF makes clear that the most important attribute of Green Belts is 

their openness.   

25 It is for applicants to demonstrate why permission should be granted. Very special 

circumstances to justify inappropriate development will not exist unless the 

potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other 

harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

26 Having regard to inappropriate development in the Green Belt, paragraph 89 of 

the NPPF, states that a local planning authority should regard the construction of 

new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt. Exceptions to this include: 

Page 24

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  5 

 “the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 

disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building”; 

27 Having regard to the above criterion, the application is a householder application 

for works and extensions to a dwelling house, the proposal would therefore fall to 

be considered against the above criterion. With this in mind policy H14A of the 

SDLP sets out the criterion against which applications for extensions to dwellings 

in the Green Belt need to be assessed.   

28 It should be noted that the term ‘disproportionate addition’ is not empirically 

defined in national policy. This means that the key comparison is between the 

‘original’ dwelling and the dwelling in its extended form. The ‘50%’ test referred to 

in criteria 2 and 6 of Local Plan policy H14A, provides guidance on how the 

Council will assess whether an extension is a disproportionate addition, stating 

that the ‘gross floor area’ of the existing dwelling plus the ‘gross floor area’ of the 

extension shall not exceed the ‘gross floor area’ of the ‘original’ dwelling by more 

than 50%. However, in assessing the impact on openness, site coverage is only 

one of the relevant considerations, the scale, height, bulk and massing of the 

extension will also be an important consideration in assessing the impact the 

extended dwelling has on the Green Belt.  

 For the purposes of Policy H14A “gross floor area” of the “original” dwelling will 

be ascertained by external measurement and shall include any garage or 

domestic outbuilding (incidental to the enjoyment of the dwelling) within the 

curtilage of the dwelling, if any part of that building lies within 5m of any part of 

the dwelling. All habitable floor space of the building will be included which is 

useable without major reconstruction. 

29 There is a domestic outbuilding within the curtilage, however, it is located in 

excess of 5 metres from the dwelling and is not original.  

30 The term ‘original’ is also defined in policy H14A as being “The dwelling and 

domestic outbuildings as existing on 1st July 1948; or if no dwelling existed on 

that date, then “original” means the dwelling as first built after 1st July 1948, i.e. 

excluding in either case any extensions or outbuildings built after 1st July 1948 or 

first completion”. 

31 An extensive search of the planning history has been carried out. 

32 As stated previously, it is assumed that the flat roof addition (as it existed prior to 

being extended in accordance with the 2009 permission) is a later addition to the 

dwelling but the Council has no records to indicate when this part of the house 

was erected. I am not convinced that the flat roof addition (as it existed prior to 

being extended in accordance with the 2009 permission) is original. However, in 

determining both the 2009 application and the 2013 application this area was 

included as original floor space. In the interest of consistency and in the absence 

of any evidence to the contrary I will therefore also treat this area as original. 

33 Based on the evidence available at this time, it is my view that the original gross 

floor area of Childs Cottage amounts to approximately 103m² which concurs with 

the previous officer. This gives a 50% limit to extend of 51.5m².  

34 The planning history indicates that a replacement garage has been provided and 

that the dwelling has been extended under application reference 

Page 25

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  6 

SE/09/01694/FUL to create an enlarged ground floor and to facilitate a loft 

conversion.  

35 No evidence has been provided to demonstrate that the loft space to the original 

dwelling provided habitable floor space. Furthermore, the planning history 

indicates that no means of access existed to the loft space until planning 

permission was received in 2009, which included an extension to the side of the 

dwelling within which a new staircase and additional accommodation in the roof 

was provided. 

36 With regards to the 2009 planning permission, by my calculations this created an 

additional 36m² at ground floor and an additional 20.4m² at first floor within the 

extended thatched roof. Based on the information submitted the currently 

proposed extension would result in the addition of a further 18.95m² at ground 

floor. No additional first floor space would be created as a result of the 

construction of the new eyebrow window within the roof, although it does result in 

a limited increase in the bulk of the building at first floor level. 

37 The table below is provided in order to clarify, the current position in terms of the 

floor area of the dwelling in its current form, and in its proposed form.  

 Floor Area 

(m²) 

Total Extended 

Floor Area (m²) 

Cumulative % Increase 

above Original Dwelling  

Original Dwelling  103   

2009 Extensions  56.4 159.4 54.76 

Proposed Extension 18.95 178.35 73.16 

 

38 Therefore, at present, and as demonstrated in the table above, extensions to the 

dwelling in both their existing and proposed form would exceed 50% of the total 

gross floor area of the original dwelling. It is therefore my view that the proposal 

would result in disproportionate additions to the original dwelling and the 

proposal is therefore regarded as inappropriate development in the Green Belt 

contrary to policy H14A and the National Planning Policy Framework which by 

definition is harmful to its openness. 

Extent of Harm 

39 In light of the above, it follows that the proposed extension at ground floor would 

further increase the harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriate 

development and would result in an increase in the gross floor area that would be 

more than the 50% limit referred to as guidance in criterion (2) of policy H14A.  

40 The NPPF confirms that the most important aspect of Green Belts is their 

openness and the fundamental aim of Green Belt Policy is to maintain this. It 

states that the open character must be maintained as far as can be seen ahead.  

Page 26

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  7 

41 It should be noted that openness is not reliant upon degree of visibility but upon 

an absence of built development. Openness can be diminished by the cumulative 

“footprint” of discreetly sited incremental additions to existing individual buildings 

as much as it can by conspicuous swathes of new development. 

42 As is evident from the calculations set out above, the proposed extensions to the 

dwelling clearly represent an increase in overall scale and consequently bulk and 

massing in comparison to the ‘original’ dwelling to a degree which would further 

erode the openness of the site and the Green Belt.  

43 It is my view that extensions to the dwelling are already disproportionate and that 

any further extensions to the dwelling would only serve to compound this issue 

resulting in additional harm and further inappropriate development in the Green 

Belt. 

44 The applicants have advanced a case for very special circumstances which they 

consider would clearly outweigh such harm, which is discussed later in the report.  

Design and Visual Impact  

45 The NPPF states that the Government ‘attaches great importance to the design of 

the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 

indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places 

better for people.’ (para. 56).  

46 Policies SP1 of the Core Strategy and Policy EN1 of the Local Plan indicates that 

“all new development should be designed to a high quality and respond to the 

distinctive local character of the area in which it is situated…….” and that 'the 

form of the proposed development ... should be compatible in terms of scale 

height, density and site coverage with other buildings in the locality. The design 

should be in harmony with adjoining buildings and incorporate materials and 

landscaping of a high standard'. 

47 Policy LO8 of the Core Strategy requires development to respect the countryside 

by having no detrimental impact upon the quality of the landscape character.   

48 Policy H6B of the SDLP states that residential extensions shall be subject to the 

principals in set out in Appendix 4.  

49 Regard should also be had to the Councils Residential Extensions Supplementary 

Planning Document (RESPD).  

50 The extension would appear subservient. The extension would have a flat roof. 

Although the Council generally seek to resist flat roof extensions, the property 

already has a large flat roof addition to the rear and the proposed extension is 

relatively modest in form and scale in comparison to the size of the existing 

dwelling on site. Furthermore, the extension is proposed to be located to the side 

of the property where, for the most part, it will be screened from the road and 

wider locality by existing planting.   

51 In my view, due to its relatively modest proportions the proposal would not be out 

of scale and the existing design is satisfactory when viewed in context with the 

shape and style of the existing dwelling. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  8 

52 As it will be screened for the most part the extended property would not create 

any inconsistency along this part of Childsbridge Lane and therefore the proposal 

would not have any unacceptable impact on the street scene.  The property will 

retain a large amount of garden space and consequently, there are no concerns 

relating to density or site coverage. 

53 The proposed eyebrow window located in the front facing roof slope would appear 

modest in relation to the roof in which it would be positioned and the fenestration 

would match the existing in terms of its detailing and design, as a result the 

window would not dominate the roof in a way which would harm the integrity of 

the design of the original thatched cottage.  

54 The proposed materials would reflect those used in the construction of the 

existing dwelling and are therefore appropriate.  

55 Overall there is no design, or visual impact reasons to add to the Green Belt 

objection. 

Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 

56 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF identifies a set of core land-use planning principles 

that should underpin decision-taking. One of these principles is that planning 

should always seek to secure a good standard of amenity for all existing and 

future occupants of land and buildings. 

57 Policies EN1 and H6B of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan require that any 

proposed development should not have an adverse impact on the amenities of 

neighbours and also ensures a satisfactory environment for future occupants.  

58 The closest neighbour to the property is Childsbridge Cottage located to the west 

of the site.  At approximately 18 metres away, this property is considered to be at 

a sufficient distance from the site to prevent any adverse impact upon amenity by 

reason of privacy, form, scale, height, outlook, noise or light intrusion or activity 

levels including vehicular or pedestrian movements.  

59 No other properties are considered to be adversely affected by the proposal. 

Very Special Circumstances 

60 The applicant’s case for very special circumstances is copied below:  

1. The NPPF does not define what a ‘disproportionate addition’ to the original 

dwelling might be, it is important to consider the implications of any 

previous additions for the openness of the Green Belt. Here, the previous 

extension, in 2009, included the provision of additional habitable space 

within the roof, amounting to 20.4 square metres. That ‘additional’ space 

had no bearing on the openness of the Green Belt and should be 

discounted from any calculation of additional scale that might impact on 

the Green Belt. If the total extensions, including that now proposed, is 

reduced by the 20.4 square metres previously included, the total addition 

is just under 53% (2.81 square metres) which is not a material departure 

from policy H14 guidance. On that analysis, the increase is not 

disproportionate and the proposal not, therefore, inappropriate 

development.  

Page 28

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  9 

2. Without prejudice to the opinion that the proposal is not inappropriate, 

very special circumstances exist in any case. These are that the additional 

space beyond the policy H14 ‘limit’ is too small to have a material impact 

on openness, and that permitted development rights would allow a much 

larger extension. The grant of permission now would enable those rights to 

be withdrawn by condition.  

3. Permitted development rights would allow the north side elevation to be 

extended by up to half the width of the original house, with a maximum 

height of 4.0 metres. Such a structure would be significantly larger and 

bulkier than the extension now proposed. This potential fall-back position 

is a material consideration and represents very special circumstances.   

61 In response, firstly, as stated in the preceding paragraphs whilst it is 

acknowledged that the term ‘disproportionate addition’ is not empirically defined 

in national policy the ‘50%’ test referred to in criterion 2 and 6 of adopted Local 

Plan policy H14A, provides guidance on how the Council will assess whether an 

extension is a disproportionate addition. Furthermore, this test is also referred to 

in emerging policy GB1 of the ADMP which has recently been examined by an 

Inspector and can be afforded moderate weight in decision taking.  Consequently, 

the Councils view is that extensions exceeding the ‘gross floor area of the 

‘original’ dwelling by more than 50% will be regarded as disproportionate. 

62 It is argued that the 20.4m² of additional accommodation in the roof had no 

bearing on the openness of the Green Belt, however, I disagree with this 

statement. As stated in the preceding paragraphs in assessing the impact on 

openness, site coverage is only one of the relevant considerations, the scale, 

height, bulk and massing of the extension will also be an important consideration 

in assessing the impact the extended dwelling has on the Green Belt.  As this 

additional accommodation was provided within the roof of a new proposed 

extension occupying a part of the site which would have previously been open and 

devoid from any three dimensional bulk, in my view, it is entirely reasonable that 

the habitable floor space created within both the ground and first floor of the 

extension be counted towards the 50% and determined as diminishing the 

openness.  

63 Should an alternative view be taken, even if the additional 20.4m² were deducted 

from the calculations then as acknowledged by the applicants agent, extensions 

to the dwelling would still exceed 50% of the floor area of the original dwelling. By 

my calculations extensions to the dwelling would still amount to 53.35%. I do not 

consider this is immaterial. In my view this results in additional built form and 

consequently additional scale, bulk and massing over and above what the Council 

considers to be acceptable in the Green Belt and therefore represents 

inappropriate development which by definition is harmful to the openness.  

64 The applicant has also advanced a permitted development ‘fallback’ position as 

very special circumstances to justify allowing this scheme. We are advised that 

the applicant is a builder, and with such a large plot there is a high likelihood that 

he will seek to maximise the size of his house.  

65 The fallback position indicates that an extension could be constructed on the 

opposite side of the dwelling to the extension currently proposed and has been 

illustrated on drawing number CC/2013/03. The applicant’s agent states that 

permitted development rights would allow the north side elevation to be extended 

Page 29

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  10 

by up to half the width of the original house, with a maximum height of 4.0 

metres. Part (h(iii)) of Class A of Schedule 2 Part 2 of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 indicates that extensions 

that would extend beyond a wall forming a side elevation of the original dwelling 

house, and would have a width greater than half the width of the original dwelling 

house are not permitted. The fallback extension would extend beyond a wall 

forming a side elevation of the original dwelling house. The planning history 

indicates that the width of the original dwelling house was approximately 10.6 

metres. Combined with the existing side extension permitted in 2009 which is 

approximately 3 metres in width, the fallback extension as shown on drawing 

number CC/2013/03 would exceed half the width of the original dwelling house. 

It would not therefore constitute permitted development.  As such, although it 

may be possible to erect a further extension to the opposite side under permitted 

development it is unlikely that an extension of the size, and consequently scale 

and bulk, of that indicated as a fallback situation could be achieved.  

66 In addition to the above, in determining the weight the fallback scheme should be 

given, it is relevant to consider whether there is a real prospect of it being built. 

The submitted floor plans indicate that the fallback situation would extend off of 

existing bedrooms. There is no evidence submitted with the application to indicate 

how the fallback situation would relate to the existing internal layout in terms of 

the use of the potential additional space. Certainly the extension could provide 

larger bedrooms but it appears from the submitted floor plans that it would be 

unlikely to provide any additional living space without reconfiguring the existing 

ground floor layout.  As such, it is difficult to conclude quite how realistic a 

proposal the fallback situation is. 

67 As indicated in the preceding paragraph, advice regarding the fallback position is 

that the weight to be given to such development depends on the reasonable 

likelihood of any fallback being exercised, and that the test should be made on 

the balance of ‘probability’ rather than the balance of ‘possibility’.  Given the lack 

of detail in respect of the fallback position which actually demonstrates a 

situation which would make a perceivable difference to the living space available 

to this dwelling and which would result in greater harm to the Green Belt, in my 

view, the applicants case in this respect does not convince as a fallback situation 

that on the balance of probability would take place: rather, it appears as a worst 

case scenario to persuade the Council to permit otherwise inappropriate 

development. I therefore attached limited weight as a consideration in favour of 

the scheme.  

68 In conclusion, for the reasons set out above, I do not consider that the applicants 

have advanced a case which would constitute the very special circumstances 

required to clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt by reason of 

inappropriateness and any other harm.  

Other Matters  

69 Part of the garden of the property is located in a designated Flood Zone 3. It 

appears from the information submitted that the proposed extension may just 

encroach into this area.  

70 If the application were successful, I would suggest a condition be imposed to 

ensure that the extension is built in accordance with the guidelines contained in 

the Environment Agency’s standing advice.  

Page 30

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  11 

Conclusion 

71 The proposed development is considered to be inappropriate in the Green Belt as 

it would result in extensions to the dwelling further exceeding the 50% floor area 

of the original dwelling generally considered acceptable. The proposed extension 

together with existing extensions to the dwelling are therefore considered to be 

disproportionate additions contrary to both local plan policy H14A and the NPPF. 

72 The fallback scheme put forward is unlikely to be able to be constructed under 

permitted development as indicated and in my view the applicants have failed to 

demonstrate a likely fallback situation which would make a perceivable difference 

to the living space available to this dwelling and which would result in greater 

harm to the Green Belt. Therefore, the fallback scheme put forward does not 

convince as a fallback situation that on the balance of probability would take 

place: Whilst possible to carry out utilising the permitted development rights, in 

this instance it appears to have been used as a bargaining tool rather than a 

realistic proposition.  As such, there are considered to be no very special 

circumstances that clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt.  

73 The scale, location and design of the extension would respect the context of the 

site and preserve the visual amenities of the locality. 

74 The development would not have an unacceptable impact on the residential 

amenities of nearby dwellings.  

Background Papers 

Site and Block plans 

Contact Officer(s): Claire Baldwin  Extension: 7367 

Richard Morris 

Chief Planning Officer 

Link to application details:  

http://pa.sevenoaks.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=N31A9MBK8V000  

Link to associated documents: 

http://pa.sevenoaks.gov.uk/online-

applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=N31A9MBK8V000  

 

  

Page 31

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  12 

 

  

Page 32

Agenda Item 3.2



(Item 3.2)  13 

Block Plan 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 3.2



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3.1 SE/14/01679/FUL - Land South Of Roxburgh, Pound Lane, Knockholt TN14 7NA
	3.2 SE/14/00905/HOUSE - Childs Cottage, Childsbridge Lane, Kemsing  TN15 0BZ

